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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

MARTIN J. WALSH, Secretary of Labor,
United States Department of Labor,
Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 21-10585

v.
April 8, 2021
CAPONE BROS., INC. and CHARLES L.
CAPONE,

Injunctive Relief Sought

Defendants.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Martin J. Walsh, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of Labor (the
“Secretary”), brings this action under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. (the
“FLSA”), to restrain Defendants Capone Bros., Inc. and Charles L. Capone from retaliating
against Nicole Hanson and other employees in violation of Section 15(a)(3) of the FLSA, 29
U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). Ms. Hanson and other employees engaged in protected activity when they
communicated with, or were about to communicate with, the Secretary’s representative in
connection with the Secretary’s investigation of Defendants under the FLSA. Defendants have
sought to intimidate Ms. Hanson and other employees, including by: (1) threatening to “go after
Nicole [Hanson];” (2) locating and calling Ms. Hanson’s new employer and making false
statements about her; and (3) forcing workers either to disclose being a Department of Labor
informant or state that they worked fewer overtime hours than determined by the Secretary’s
investigation. Ms. Hanson feels threatened by Defendants’ conduct and fears that Defendants
will continue interfering with her employment.
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The Secretary is authorized to seek injunctive relief to restrain violations of the FLSA.
See 29 U.S.C. § 217. Because Defendants have been retaliating against employees, including Ms.
Hanson, since they communicated with or were about to communicate with the Secretary, the
Secretary seeks from this Court an order enjoining Defendants and those acting on their behalf
from violating Section 15(a)(3) of the FLSA through any further intimidation, harassment, or
other adverse action against employees as a result of the employees’ protected activity. The
Secretary also seeks punitive damages for Defendants’ violations of the FLSA’s anti-retaliation
provision.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1.

This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 17 of the FLSA, 29

U.S.C. § 217, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.
2.

Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of

Massachusetts because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this
judicial district.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
Parties
3.

Plaintiff Martin J. Walsh, Secretary of Labor, Department of Labor, is authorized

to bring actions to restrain violations of the anti-retaliation provision and other provisions of the
FLSA. See 29 U.S.C. §§ 211(a), 216(b), and 217.
4.

Defendant Capone Bros., Inc. (“Capone Bros.”) is a Massachusetts corporation

with a principal office and place of business located at 120 Cedar Street, Canton, Massachusetts
02021. Capone Bros. is in the business of providing general construction services.
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5.

Defendant Charles L. Capone is the president, treasurer, secretary, director, and

owner of Capone Bros.
Ms. Hanson’s Work for Capone Bros.
6.

From approximately October 5, 2015 to January 17, 2020, Nicole Hanson worked

for Capone Bros. as an office manager.
7.

Ms. Hanson was an employee during that time period, as defined by Section

3(e)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1).
8.

Ms. Hanson typically worked about 50 hours each week for Capone Bros.

9.

Defendants did not pay Ms. Hanson the overtime premium required by Section 7

of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207, for weeks in which she worked more than 40 hours.
10.

Each week, Ms. Hanson recorded her hours worked over 40 on a document

known as a “kiddie sheet.”
11.

Instead of paying Ms. Hanson an overtime premium when she worked hours over

40 in a week, Defendants logged these hours in a “kiddie bank.”
12.

Ms. Hanson could use these banked hours at a later date for time off or sick days.

13.

Defendants paid Ms. Hanson for each overtime hour logged in the “kiddie bank”

at a rate that was even less than her regular rate of pay.
Defendants’ Unlawful Retaliation
14.

On or about March 12, 2021, the Secretary presented Defendants and related

entities with the amount of back wages they owe their employees, as determined by the Secretary
in his investigation of Defendants under the FLSA.
15.

Defendant Capone believed that Ms. Hanson was in some way responsible for the

Secretary’s investigation of Defendants under the FLSA.
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16.

Ms. Hanson, as well as other employees, provided information or statements

about their wages and hours to the Secretary as part of his investigation of Defendants.
17.

On or about March 25, 2021, Defendant Capone stated that when the Secretary’s

investigation is over Capone would “go after Nicole [Hanson].”
18.

Defendant Capone’s threat to “go after” a former employee who Capone

perceived to be responsible for the Department of Labor’s investigation would dissuade a
reasonable worker from engaging in protected activity under the FLSA.
19.

On or about March 22, 2021, Ms. Hanson started a job with a new employer.

20.

On or about March 26, 2021, approximately two weeks after Defendants learned

of their back wage liability as determined by the Secretary’s investigation, Ms. Hanson
discovered that Defendant Capone called her new employer and told that employer, among other
things, that Ms. Hanson was sneaky and a thief.
21.

Defendant Capone’s false accusations to the current employer of a former Capone

Bros. employee who Capone perceived to be responsible for the Department of Labor’s
investigation would dissuade a reasonable worker from engaging in protected activity under the
FLSA.
22.

Because Defendants have located Ms. Hanson’s new place of employment, called

her new employer to make false allegations about her, and threatened to “go after” her, Ms.
Hanson is deeply concerned that Defendants will continue harassing her and retaliating against
her.
23.

Defendant Capone has also asked other workers who are owed back wages as a

result of the Secretary’s investigation either to disclose being a Department of Labor informant
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or to state that they worked fewer overtime hours than determined by the Secretary’s
investigation.
24.

These requests by Defendant Capone would dissuade a reasonable worker from

engaging in protected activity under the FLSA.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of the Anti-Retaliation Provision of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3))
25.

The Secretary incorporates by reference and re-alleges all foregoing allegations in

the Complaint.
26.

Section 15(a)(3) prohibits retaliation against employees and former employees

because they assert their rights under the FLSA. The provision prohibits, among other things,
“any person” from “discharg[ing] or in any other manner discriminat[ing] against any employee
because such employee has filed any complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted any
proceeding under or related to this chapter [8 of the FLSA], or has testified or is about to testify
in any such proceeding.” 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3).
27.

Defendants have violated and continue to violate Section 15(a)(3) by retaliating

against and intimidating employees, including Ms. Hanson, because they engaged in the
protected activity of communicating with or being about to communicate with the Department of
Labor in connection with the Secretary’s investigation of Defendants under the FLSA.
28.

Defendants’ retaliatory conduct includes: (a) threatening to go after Ms. Hanson;

(b) locating and calling Ms. Hanson’s new employer and making false statements about her; and
(c) asking employees either to disclose whether they were a Department of Labor informant or to
state that the number of overtime hours they worked were fewer than what the Secretary’s
investigation had determined.
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29.

As a result of Defendants’ actions, a reasonable employee would be dissuaded

from engaging in activities protected under the FLSA, such as complaining about unpaid wages
or cooperating with an investigation by the Secretary into violations of the FLSA.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, cause having been shown, the Secretary respectfully prays that this Court
enter judgment against Defendants and provide the following relief:
a.

An order issued pursuant to Section 17 of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 217, permanently

enjoining and restraining Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, and employees, and
those persons in active concert or participation with Defendants, from violating the provisions
of Section 15(a)(3) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3);
b.

An order awarding punitive damages for Defendants’ retaliation against Nicole

Hanson and other employees in violation of Section 15(a)(3) of the Act, 29 U.S.C.
§ 215(a)(3);
c.

An order awarding the Secretary all costs of this action; and

d.

An order awarding the Secretary with any other relief that the Court deems

necessary and appropriate.
Elena S. Goldstein
Deputy Solicitor of Labor

Post Office Address:
U.S. Department of Labor
Office of the Solicitor
John F. Kennedy Federal Building
Room E-375
Boston, MA 02203
TEL: (617) 565-2500
FAX: (617) 565-2142

Maia S. Fisher
Regional Solicitor
Mark A. Pedulla
Wage and Hour Counsel
/s/ Sheila A. Gholkar
Sheila A. Gholkar
Trial Attorney
Gholkar.sheila.a@dol.gov
MA BBO No. 687659
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U.S. Department of Labor
Attorneys for Plaintiff
April 8, 2021
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